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From: Scheineson, Marc [mailto:Marc.Scheineson@alston.com] 
Sent: Thursday, April 13, 2017 9:01 AM
To: Ibarra-Pratt, Ele
Subject: RE: Cheyenne-Follow-Up
 

Thanks, Ele.  Appreciate your follow-up and continued communication.

Some understanding of the agenda, or the scope of the discussion (other than discussion of

the Warning Letter and our response), would also be helpful to insure that we are prepared

and that the meeting is productive.  Best, Marc.

 

From: Ibarra-Pratt, Ele [mailto:Elenita.IbarraPratt@fda.hhs.gov] 
Sent: Wednesday, April 12, 2017 7:59 PM
To: Scheineson, Marc <Marc.Scheineson@alston.com>
Subject: RE: Cheyenne-Follow-Up
 
Marc,
 
I am still trying to coordinate internally and will try to confirm with you on the date and time by the
end of this week. Thank you in advance for your understanding.
 
Regards,
Ele
Office of Compliance and Enforcement
FDA Center for Tobacco Products
Elenita.Ibarrapratt@FDA.hhs.gov | 301.796.9235
www.FDA.gov/Tobacco | @FDATobacco

 
 
 

From: Scheineson, Marc [mailto:Marc.Scheineson@alston.com] 
Sent: Wednesday, April 12, 2017 2:34 PM
To: Ibarra-Pratt, Ele
Subject: RE: Cheyenne-Follow-Up
 

Ele, please confirm that you received this email and that a meeting the afternoon on May
th th



10  works at your end.  The alternative is the morning of Friday, May 12 , whichever is

most convenient.  Best, Marc.

 

From: Scheineson, Marc 
Sent: Tuesday, April 11, 2017 4:00 PM
To: 'Ibarra-Pratt, Ele' <Elenita.IbarraPratt@fda.hhs.gov>
Subject: Cheyenne-Follow-Up
 

Ele, per our discussion, the best date/time for Cheyenne to meet with FDA-CTP would be

the afternoon of May 10th (around 2 p.m. or so) if convenient.  Ralph Brown of Cheyenne is

planning to attend the TMA meeting (evening of the 10th and 11th) and is scheduled to

arrive in DC at 11:20 a.m. on the 10th.  Once a meeting date/time is confirmed, we can

send you a list of participants, and ask the same from CTP.  Thanks for your follow-up.  Best,

Marc.  

 

Marc J. Scheineson, Esq.

Alston & Bird LLP

950 F Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20004-1404

(202) 239-3465 (Office)

(202) 344-5848 (Mobile)

(202) 654-4965 (FAX)

marc.scheineson@alston.com
 

 

NOTICE: This e-mail message and all attachments may contain legally privileged and

confidential information intended solely for the use of the addressee. If you are not the

intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you may not read, copy, distribute or

otherwise use this message or its attachments. If you have received this message in error,

please notify the sender by email and delete all copies of the message immediately.



From: Ibarra-Pratt, Ele
To: Kabaria, Swati; Villa, Anthony; Marshall, Byron; Hills, Bryan
Subject: Fwd: Cheyenne- Filtered Cigar Proposal.DOCX
Date: Tuesday, June 20, 2017 6:12:16 PM
Attachments: Cheyenne FOIA Letter - May 23 2017 .pdf

Cheyenne- Filtered Cigar Proposal 1 (2).DOCX
Importance: High

From: "Scheineson, Marc" 
Sent: Tuesday, June 20, 2017 5:24 PM
To: "Simoneau, Ann" 
CC: "Mednick, David" ,"Ibarra-Pratt, Ele" ,David Scott ,Ralph Brown ,"Carroll, Brendan" 
Subject: Cheyenne- Filtered Cigar Proposal.DOCX

Attached for your review and consideration is Cheyenne’s response to the May 10, 2017
meeting discussing the Warning Letter about its cherry flavored filtered cigars.  Please
contact my colleagues or me with any questions, of if we may be of further assistance. 
Best, Marc.
 

Marc J. Scheineson, Esq.
Alston & Bird LLP
950 F Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004-1404
(202) 239-3465 (Office)
(202) 344-5848 (Mobile)
(202) 654-4965 (FAX)
marc.scheineson@alston.com
 

NOTICE: This e-mail message and all attachments may contain legally privileged and
confidential information intended solely for the use of the addressee. If you are not the
intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you may not read, copy, distribute or
otherwise use this message or its attachments. If you have received this message in error,
please notify the sender by email and delete all copies of the message immediately.
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June 20, 2017 

VIA EMAIL (ann.simoneau@fda.hhs.gov) 

DPAL-WL Response, Office of Compliance and Enforcement 
FDA Center for Tobacco Products 
c/o Document Control Center 
Building 71, Room G335 
10903 New Hampshire Avenue 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 
 

Re: Cheyenne International LLC December 9, 2017 Warning Letter Re: 
Flavored Filtered Cigars  

Dear Ann: 

The purpose of this letter is twofold: 1) to confirm in writing the contents of the meeting 
between Cheyenne International, LLC (Cheyenne) and the Food and Drug 
Administration (FDA) Center of Tobacco Products (CTP) on May 10, 2017 to discuss the 
Warning Letter issued to Cheyenne on December 9, 2016, and Cheyenne’s response that 
was submitted on December 30, 2016; and 2) to outline next steps that Cheyenne 
proposes to take to reach a mutual resolution with FDA-CTP.   

Meeting Summary 

On May 10, 2017, representatives from Cheyenne (Ralph Brown and David Scott) and its 
FDA regulatory counsel (Marc Scheineson and Brendan Carroll) met with individuals 
from CTP’s Office of Compliance and Enforcement and the FDA Office of Chief 
Counsel to discuss the December 9, 2016 Warning Letter and Cheyenne’s response. You 
led the meeting which lasted approximately 1-hour. 

During this meeting, you indicated that FDA-CTP received and reviewed the response 
submitted by Cheyenne on December 30, 2016.  You next explained that CTP requested 
this meeting in order to discuss the Warning Letter including evidence it had gathered to 
support FDA’s position that Cheyenne filtered cigars are perceived by consumers as 
cigarettes, and to possibly discuss a mutual resolution. 



Ms. Ann Simoneau 
June 20, 2017 
Page 2 
 
As the officiating individual, you explained that it was the Agency’s position that 
Cheyenne 100s Wild Cherry cigars meet the definition of cigarette based on the 
appearance of the package and labeling.  This position is reportedly supported by copy 
testing and consumer perception stud(ies) in which the consumers perceived that the 
cigars were cigarettes.  This research was conducted by FDA-CTP’s Office of Science 
(OS).  According to CTP, the conclusion of the study was that participating consumers 
examined a number of factors and determined that because of the product package size 
and label, the product was a cigarette and not a cigar. 

Cheyenne stated that it could not respond to findings from a study it had not seen, but 
indicated, at your request, that the Company could request a complete copy of the study 
under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA). We agreed to review/comment carefully 
on its findings once received. Cheyenne further requested that CTP help expedite a 
complete response to the FOIA request.  Cheyenne also stated that revelation of an 
unseen CTP-OS study did not change its position as detailed in the detailed Warning 
Letter response. 

At the end of the meeting, Cheyenne agreed to CTP’s request that it submit a proposal to 
FDA outlining next steps that Cheyenne would take to resolve this matter.  This brief 
proposal is set forth below. 

Cheyenne Proposal 

Cheyenne’s proposal for each of the steps that the Company proposes to take to address 
the concern raised in FDA’s Warning Letter includes the following: 

x Cheyenne submitted a request under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) for 
the “Study that Supports the December 9, 2016 Warning Letter” that you 
referenced during the May 10, 2017 meeting 

o Status:  Completed.  This FOIA request was FAXed and delivered to the 
FDA FOIA Office on May 23, 2017 (see copy attached).  We have not 
received any acknowledgement, or the 20-day determination letter 
required by 21 CFR §20.41(b).  

x Once Cheyenne receives this study (including all the components summarized in 
the FOIA Request), it will immediately review its methodology, contents and 
ultimate conclusions, to understand the basis of CTP’s position as articulated in 
the Warning Letter and during the May 10, 2017 meeting. Cheyenne will evaluate 
whether a supplemental response is appropriate based on the design and results of 
the study. 

o Status:  Pending receipt of the Study per the FOIA request. 

x Cheyenne, in consultation with other members of industry (including the three 
other tobacco manufacturers that received the Warning Letter dated December 9, 
2016), will evaluate whether it is appropriate to commission their own study 
regarding consumer perception of similarly packaged cigar products. Any 
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additional study would be based on a protocol design reviewed and agreed to in 
advance by CTP. 

o Status:  Pending receipt and analysis of CTP-OS Study, and industry 
discussion.   

x Cheyenne submitted a Rotational Warning Plan pursuant to 21 CFR §1143.5 that 
is awaiting CTP review and comment.  It is revising its own labeling to comply 
with the terms of the Deeming Rule (e.g., use of one of six rotating warnings 4 of 
which include prominent use of the word “cigar” that must consume at least 30% 
of each of the two principal display panels on each package).      

x Cheyenne is reviewing and evaluating its current labels, labeling and packaging to 
assess whether any changes are appropriate (e.g., increasing the font size and 
prominence of the word “Cigar”). 

o Status:  Pending.  Cheyenne has begun drafting new and modified artwork 
for all cigar products, including increasing the prominence of certain 
statements and inclusion of required health warning statements, in order to 
comply with the new requirements under the Final Deeming Rule (which 
have recently been delayed until August 10, 2017).  Cheyenne will 
evaluate any such changes in accordance with CTP’s response to its 
Rotational Warning Plan.  

x Cheyenne seeks to maintain an open line of communication with FDA-CTP to 
help resolve these issues as new developments occur, including critique and 
discussion of the CTP-OS consumer perception study. We will notify FDA-CTP 
once this FOIA request has been fulfilled, and Cheyenne has reviewed the study.   

Thank you again for the opportunity to discuss this issue on May 10, 2017.  We hope that 
we can continue to work cooperatively toward a mutual resolution of this matter. 

Please contact Brendan Carroll or me with any questions or if we may be of further 
assistance. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Marc J. Scheineson 

 
 
 
enclosure 
cc: David Mednick, Esq. (via email) 
 Ms. Ele Ibarra-Pratt   (via email) 
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Mr. David Scott         (via email) 
 Mr. Ralph Brown       (via email) 
 



From: Ibarra-Pratt, Ele
To: Gu, Michael; Marshall, Byron; Kabaria, Swati
Subject: FW: Revised Cheyenne- WL Response (Final).DOCX
Date: Friday, December 30, 2016 5:05:56 PM
Attachments: Cheyenne- WL Response (Final) 1 (6).DOCX
Importance: High

FYI
 

From: Scheineson, Marc [mailto:Marc.Scheineson@alston.com] 
Sent: Friday, December 30, 2016 5:05 PM
To: Simoneau, Ann; Ibarra-Pratt, Ele; CTP Office of Compliance
Subject: Revised Cheyenne- WL Response (Final).DOCX
Importance: High
 
Please substitute this letter for the letter sent previously which replaces a small typo in the
previous letter.  Sorry for any confusion (but it is Friday afternoon before the New Year). 
Best, Marc.
 
 
Marc J. Scheineson, Esq.
Alston & Bird LLP
950 F Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004-1404
(202) 239-3465 (Office)
(202) 344-5848 (Mobile)
(202) 654-4965 (FAX)
marc.scheineson@alston.com
 

 

NOTICE: This e-mail message and all attachments may contain legally privileged and
confidential information intended solely for the use of the addressee. If you are not the
intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you may not read, copy, distribute or
otherwise use this message or its attachments. If you have received this message in error,
please notify the sender by email and delete all copies of the message immediately.
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December 30, 2016 

OVERNIGHT MAIL 
 

DPAL-WL Response 
Office of Compliance and Enforcement 
FDA Center for Tobacco Products 
c/o Document Control Center 
Building 71, Room G335 
10903 New Hampshire Avenue 
Silver Spring, MD 20993-0002 

 

 
Re: Cheyenne International, LLC Warning Letter Response 

(RW 1600609) 

Dear Ms. Simoneau:  

Attached for your review and discussion is a response by Cheyenne International LLC 
(Cheyenne) to the Warning Letter dated and received by Cheyenne on December 9, 2016 
(RW 1600609).  The Warning Letter references your review of Cheyenne’s website at 
http://www.cheyennecigars.com.  It alleges that Cheyenne’s Wild Cherry 100’s Cigars 
labeled as cigars meet the definition of “cigarettes” under §900(3) of the Federal Food, 
Drug and Cosmetic Act (FDCA). Allegedly, as cigarettes, and not filtered cigars, a 
natural or artificial characterizing flavor is prohibited, thereby rendering this product 
adulterated and misbranded under the FDCA. 

Cheyenne is a small tobacco product manufacturer (STPM); one of the few domestic 
tobacco product manufacturers remaining in the United States. We created hundreds of 
well-paying full-time jobs in rural Grover, NC with health and retirement benefits.  
Regulatory compliance has been and remains a top priority of Cheyenne.  We were 
among the first in the industry to limit youth access to on-line promotion, limit that 
promotion, and to include prominent disclaimers concerning underage use and health 
risks on all our packaging and labeling.  These steps were taken long before FDA 
obtained regulatory jurisdiction over tobacco products. 

Since the inception of the Family Smoking Prevention and Tobacco Control Act (TCA) 
in 2009, to which we actively assisted in drafting the STPM-related provisions, we have 
continued to place a strong emphasis on compliance with the TCA.  We have been, and 
remain, cooperative and fully compliant with all FDA laws, regulations and procedures.  
However, we are greatly troubled by the alleged “flavored cigarette violation,” which we 
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believe represents a gross misinterpretation and mischaracterization by FDA of Cheyenne 
Wild Cherry 100’s Cigars as cigarettes.  For the many reasons outlined below, and 
discussed in greater detail in our attached response, we object to the premise and 
allegations made in FDA’s Warning Letter and the attendant press associated with its 
release.  These reasons include: 

x Policy Issue Not Compliance Issue.  FDA-CTP is using its compliance and 
enforcement powers, in the form of a Warning Letter, improperly to try to enact 
policy to ban flavored filtered cigars and restrict consumer choice for alternatives to 
cigarettes, rather than using its rulemaking authorities through promulgation of 
performance standards, including public input, as envisioned in the TCA. 

x No Evidence to Support Consumer Confusion.  Existing evidence is contrary to 
FDA’s assumption that underage use of flavored filtered cigars has increased, or that 
consumers believe that Cheyenne Wild Cherry 100’s filtered cigars are actually 
cigarettes because of the size, shape or packaging of these products.  No such 
evidence is cited, or included in the Warning Letter, as justification for CTP’s 
conclusion that “FDA has determined that you sell or distribute flavored cigarette 
products, such as Cheyenne 100s Wild Cherry.”  Basic common sense would indicate 
that if flavored filtered cigars were offered, or likely to be purchased by consumers as 
cigarettes, sales of these cigar products would constitute substantially in excess of 1-
2% compared to total cigarette sales since they offer flavorings banned in cigarettes 
and cost about 1/3 the cost of cigarettes due to lower federal and state excise taxes. 

x No Conversion of Flavored Cigarettes to Flavored Cigars.  Cheyenne never 
manufactured or sold flavored cigarettes at any time before or after enactment of the 
TCA.  Flavored filtered cigars, which include flavors like cherry, have been sold as 
cigar products for over 100 years.  Cheyenne has made and marketed these products 
since 2004.  The TCA, enacted in 2009, could have banned these products, as it did 
cigarettes, if that was the legislative intent of Congress, which it was not. 

x Same Definition Interpreted Differently by Treasury/FTC.  FDA is ignoring the 
historic and consistent interpretations of the identical definition by other more 
experienced government tobacco regulators.  The definition of “cigarette” contained 
in §900(3) FDCA referenced in the Warning Letter was drawn verbatim from the 
Internal Revenue Code (enforced by the Treasury Alcohol and Tobacco Tax and 
Trade Bureau (TTB) which assesses federal excise taxes) and from the Federal 
Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act (enforced by the Federal Trade Commission). 

x Government Certification as Cigars.  TTB, for example, tested and certified 
Cheyenne flavored filtered cigar products as cigars, eligible for lower federal excise 
taxes, based on a federal government Revenue Ruling consistently applying this 
identical definition.  As part of TTB’s analysis, the Cheyenne brown tobacco 
wrappers were tested and certified to contain at least 2/3 tobacco.  The filler was 
tested and certified to be composed of traditionally harsher air-cured low sugar burley 
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tobacco blends used in cigars which were not intended to be inhaled (v. high sugar 
flue-cured oriental tobacco blends used in cigarettes which were intended to be 
inhaled).  The package labels were carefully reviewed and certified by TTB to contain 
conspicuous cigar descriptors with sufficient prominence to eliminate any confusion 
for reasonable consumers, who were determined, therefore, to be unlikely to purchase 
the products believing them to be cigarettes and not cigars. 

x Elimination of Small Business.  As FDA may realize, all these statutes using the same 
definitions work together.  Therefore, if filtered cigars are determined to be cigarettes 
under this established definition, it would create a government “feeding frenzy.”  
States would require the use of low ignition propensity paper required of all 
“cigarettes,” thereby eliminating this product category entirely.  The federal 
government and each state attorney general would file criminal tax evasion lawsuits 
and seek billions of dollars in unpaid cigarette excise taxes.  The USDA would seek 
unpaid “buy out” payments, and the entire structure of the TCA user fees and 
Tobacco Master Settlement Agreement would be recast to increase Cheyenne 
payments to the point that the Company could be thrust into bankruptcy with the 
resulting loss of all rural Grover, NC jobs and those of primary suppliers and vendors.  
Any public health benefit would be de minimis because of the relatively low volume 
of filtered cigar sales.  Consumers would lose another non-inhaled product in the 
interest of inhaled chain-smoked sweet cigarette alternatives. 

Despite the clear legal authority for Cheyenne to continue to market and sell flavored 
filtered cigars, including Wild Cherry 100’s, in the interest of mutual cooperation and 
respect, Cheyenne agrees to address the concern expressed in the FDA-CTP Warning 
Letter by continuing specific actions summarized in Section B. 1-6 of the response 
attached. 

This letter also authorizes FDA to communicate directly with our regulatory counsel, 
Marc J. Scheineson, Esq., at Alston & Bird, 950 F Street, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20004; 
202-239-3465; marc.scheineson@alston.com, with respect to any issues related to this 
matter, or any other issues with respect to Cheyenne.  Please contact Alston & Bird if you 
have questions or wish to discuss this matter further. 

Thank you for your review and consideration of this response. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

 
David A. Scott 
Chief Executive Officer 
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enclosures 
cc: Ms. Ele Ibarra-Pratt (via email) 
 Marc J. Scheineson, Esq. (via email) 
 Mr. Ralph Brown (via email)  
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Response 

A. Background 
 

Cheyenne is a small tobacco product manufacturer (STPM) as defined under §900(16) of 
the FDCA.  Its manufacturing operations remain in the U.S., in Grover, NC.  Cheyenne 
restored domestic product manufacturing to this depressed rural region and reemployed 
hundreds of Americans with well-paying, full-time manufacturing jobs that include full 
health and employer-funded retirement benefits.  It produces a full-line of tobacco 
products including machine-made filtered cigars and cigarillos.  These cigar products all 
contain traditional air-cured low-sugar content burley tobacco filler blends and brown 
homogenized tobacco leaf wrappers.  Many of these cigar products contain flavorings 
selected exclusively to meet the expressed preferences of adult smokers to whom 
Cheyenne has sold these tobacco products since 2004; at least 5-years prior to the 
enactment of the TCA. 
 
As a small business focused on regulatory compliance, Cheyenne has remained fully 
compliant with all FDA regulations, procedures and guidance stemming from the TCA, 
despite the fact that many of the small business exemptions and/or transition rules 
required by the TCA, and specifically negotiated by Cheyenne and other small 
businesses, have been ignored or “reinterpreted” during implementation of the TCA. 
 
In 2009-10, Cheyenne, and its FDA regulatory counsel, took an active role explaining 
existing interpretations of the legal distinction between filtered cigarettes and filtered 
cigars to the new CTP Director, Dr. Lawrence Deyton.  This dialogue occurred in 
response to initial attempts by FDA, and deputized state health officials, soon after 
enactment of the TCA, to seize flavored little cigars in addition to flavored cigarettes 
based on a misinterpretation of the cigarette flavor ban.  Dr. Deyton and CTP agreed to 
refrain from such action based on these discussions, review of this analysis, and 
withdrawal of a legal complaint filed by another manufacturer, Kretek International, Inc. 
 
Cheyenne also responded to requests for comments by FDA regarding this very issue as 
part of the Proposed Rule, “Deeming Tobacco Products to be Subject to the Federal 
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as Amended by the Family Smoking Prevention and 
Tobacco Control Act; Regulations on the Sale and Distribution of Tobacco Products 
Required Warning Statements of Tobacco Products” (April 25, 2014) (the “Proposed 
Deeming Rule”).  Specifically, as part of this Proposed Deeming Rule, FDA requested 
comments regarding “the characteristics or factors it should consider in determining 
whether a particular tobacco product is a ‘cigarette’ as defined in section 900(3) of the 
FD&C Act and, consequently, subject to the prohibition against characterizing flavors, 
despite being labeled as a little cigar or other non-cigarette tobacco product.”1   
 

                                                 
1 79 Fed. Reg. 23142, 23144 (April 25, 2014). 
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In response to comments received on the Proposed Deeming Rule including this specific 
request for information, and perhaps based on opposition by the Office of Management 
and Budget, FDA declined in the final rule to establish any “characteristics or factors” 
and instead declared its intention – in the future – to address this issue by issuance of a 
proposed product standard: 
 

FDA is not banning flavored tobacco products with this final deeming 
rule. To address concerns with the growing flavored cigar market and its 
impact on youth and young adult initiation with tobacco products, FDA is 
announcing here that it intends to issue in the future a proposed product 
standard that would prohibit characterizing flavors in all cigars, including 
cigarillos and little cigars.2   

 
Despite a number of well-intentioned, but completely incorrect and unsubstantiated, 
comments from the public health community that smaller sized cigars are being marketed 
and used as cigarettes and, therefore, that FDA should communicate that such products 
are subject to the cigarette flavor ban, FDA instead responded that it “underst[ood] and 
appreciate[d] comments regarding the role that flavored little cigars, or similar products, 
might play on initiation of tobacco product use and dual use,” but ultimately stated that 
FDA “will continue to determine whether a product is a ‘cigarette’ under the FD&C Act 
and subject to the statutory flavor ban on a case-by-case basis.”  
 
The issuance of this Warning Letter appears to represent such a “case-by-case” 
determination whereby the Agency has made the determination that Cheyenne Wild 
Cherry 100’s Cigars are “cigarettes” under the FDCA.  We note that FDA stated in the 
Warning Letter that the Agency had “recently reviewed the 
website http://www.cheyennecigars. com” in order to make the determination that these 
products meet the definition of the FDCA’s definition of a “cigarette,” but otherwise 
provided no specifics concerning what content or material it found to support this 
determination.  We are accustomed to viewing Warning Letters related to alleged 
advertising and promotion violations issued by other FDA product centers, and reviewed 
by the Office of Chief Counsel, that specifically repeat the promotional language 
determined by FDA to constitute “adulteration,” and “misbranding.”  No such language 
from Cheyenne’s website was included in the CTP Warning Letter.  

                                                 
2 81 Fed. Reg. 28974, 29055 (May 10, 2016). 
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Before responding to the specific violation alleged in this Warning Letter below, as the 
Agency knows, “[t]he requirement that agency action not be arbitrary or capricious 
includes a requirement that the agency adequately explain its results . . . .”  Public Citizen 
v. FAA, 988 F.2d. 186, 197 (D.C. Cir. 1993).  It is a general and straightforward principle 
of administrative law that “the agency must explain why it decided to act as it did.”  See 
Butte County California v. Hogen, No. 1:08-cv-5179 (D.D.C. July 13, 2010) (asserting 
that “[t]he agency’s statement must be one of ‘reasoning’; it must not be just a 
‘conclusion’; it must ‘articulate a satisfactory’ explanation’ for its action.”).  No agency 
can adopt an ipse dixit approach to making a determination.  See D&F Afonso Realty 
Trust v. Garvey, 216 F.3d 1191, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (concluding that the agency did 
not consider relevant factors or sufficiently explain the basis of its hazard determination). 
 
Cheyenne, likewise, did not receive sufficient explanation, and, therefore, does not 
understand the relevant factors that FDA reviewed on Cheyenne’s website to support the 
conclusion that “FDA has determined that you sell or distribute flavored cigarette 
products, such as Cheyenne 100’s Wild Cherry” (Warning Letter, pg. 1, 6th paragraph, 
“Flavored Cigarette Violation”). 
 
Nonetheless, we respond in full to these allegations below: 
 
B. Warning Letter Violations 
 
The basis of this Warning Letter is that FDA determined that Cheyenne Wild Cherry 
100’s Cigars are, in fact, cigarettes.  We respectfully, but strongly disagree for the 
reasons stated in detail below.  However, in the interest of mutual cooperation and 
respect, we agree to continue to take the following steps in order to remove any doubt 
concerning the correct regulatory status of this product and other Cheyenne flavored 
filtered cigars: 

1. Cheyenne will use the descriptor “cigar” conspicuously and prominently 
wherever the brand name appears on all advertising and promotional materials 
including on-line and printed materials. 

2. We will never use tobacco filler other than pure air-cured low-sugar cigar blends 
and never use any Oriental tobacco in any of our flavored filtered and other cigar 
products. 

3. We agree never to market, sell or use any product names, descriptors, flavors or 
advertising targeting under-age smokers. 

4. Cheyenne shut down all blogs, chat-rooms and other forms of company-
sponsored on-line communications from customers, vendors, or others, which 
could include information confusing to consumers or regulators concerning the 
identity of its flavored filtered cigar products. 
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5. We will continue to monitor social media regularly for any misinformation that 
could confuse consumers concerning the classification and identity of our 
flavored filtered cigar products and cigarette products as recommended in Agency 
guidance concerning use of social media (currently applicable to drugs, biologics 
and devices)3. 

6. We intend to maintain open communications with FDA in the hope that any 
information that FDA-CTP finds objectionable concerning our flavored filtered 
cigars will be discussed and withdrawn as appropriate. 

Response to Warning Letter Allegations 

Based on this mischaracterization of an entire product category, FDA cited adulteration 
and misbranding violations under §§902(5) and 903(a)(1), as well as a flavored cigarette 
violation under §907(a)(1) FDCA.  For the reasons explained below, all of these alleged 
violations are inappropriate as applied to Cheyenne’s Wild Cherry 100’s filtered cigars: 

1. The definitions of “cigarette,” “cigar” and “little cigar” under the FDCA, FCLAA 
and IRC clearly define the characteristics of these different types of products. 

a. Cigarette 

The term “cigarette” is defined under §900(3) of the FDCA as a product that: 

(i) is a tobacco product; and  

(ii) meets the definition of the term ‘cigarette’ in section 3(1) of the Federal 
Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act; and includes tobacco, in any 
form, that is functional in the product, which, because of its appearance, 
the type of tobacco used in the filler, or its packaging and labeling, is 
likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as a cigarette or as roll-
your-own tobacco. 

The term “cigarette” as defined in §1332(1) of Chapter 36 of the Federal Cigarette 
Labeling and Advertising Act of 1966 (FCLAA) (incorporated by reference into §900(3) 
of the FDCA) means: 

(A) any roll of tobacco wrapped in paper or in any substance not containing 
tobacco, and 

(B) any roll of tobacco wrapped in any substance containing tobacco, which, 
because of its appearance, the type of tobacco used in the filler, or its 

                                                 
3 See Guidance for Industry, Internet/Social Media Platforms: Correcting Independent Third-Party 
Misinformation About Prescription Drugs and Medical Devices (June 2014). 
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packaging and labeling, is likely to be offered, or purchased by, consumers 
as a cigarette described in subparagraph (A). 

The definition of “cigarette” in the FDCA mirrors the definition of “cigarette” contained 
in the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) administered by the Department of the Treasury,4 
and the FCLAA administered by the Federal Trade Commission from which the identical 
TCA definition was drawn. 

b. Little Cigar 

The term “little cigar” is defined under §900(11) of the FDCA as a product that: 

(A) is a tobacco product; and  

(B) meets the definition of the term ‘little cigar’ in section 3(7) of the Federal 
Cigarette Labeling and Advertising Act. 

The term “little cigar” as defined in §1332(7) of Chapter 36 of the FCLAA) (incorporated 
by reference into §900(3) of the FDCA means “any roll of tobacco wrapped in leaf 
tobacco or any substance containing tobacco (other than any roll of tobacco which is a 
cigarette within the meaning of subsection (1)) and as to which one thousand units weigh 
not more than three pounds.” 

c. Cigar 

The term “cigar” is defined under the Final Deeming Rule (incorporated into 21 C.F.R. 
§1143.1) is a tobacco product that:   

(i) is not a cigarette; and  

(ii) is a roll of tobacco wrapped in leaf tobacco or any substance containing 
tobacco. 

In conjunction with these statutory definitions, the Alcohol, Tax and Trade Bureau of the 
Department of the Treasury (TTB) issued detailed regulations and Revenue Rulings 
distinguishing between cigarettes and cigars for purposes of excise tax determinations.  
These classifications have been applied successfully since approximately 1954.  TTB 
assesses “[a] combination of other factors [that] must also be considered” in determining 
whether a product is a cigar or a cigarette.5  These distinctions between a cigarette and 
cigar depend upon a number of factors including the type of tobacco used in the filler, the 
type of wrapper, the weight of the product and the labeling of the product. 

                                                 
4  See 15 U.S.C. §1332(1) and 26 U.S.C. §702. 
5  See ATF Ruling 73-22 and Procedures 73-5 and 76-2. 



Cheyenne Warning Letter Response 
December 30, 2016 
Page 10 

With a full understanding of the longstanding distinctions between cigarettes and cigars, 
and in order to create consistency between agency regulation, Congress carefully defined 
“cigarette” in the FDCA in exactly the same manner as it had before in the IRC and the 
FCLAA.  The FDCA explicitly refers to cigars and little cigars as a separate classification 
of tobacco products than cigarettes.  The definition incorporates the historic distinction 
between cigars and cigarettes that has been included in prior Congressional legislation 
and administrative regulations.  In fact, the term “little cigar” was initially defined in 
§900(11) of the FDCA (through incorporation of the definition in the FCLAA) as “any 
roll of tobacco wrapped in leaf tobacco or any substance containing tobacco (other than 
any roll of tobacco which is a cigarette within the meaning [“cigarette” under the 
FCLAA] and as to which one thousand units weigh not more than 3 pounds.”  The 
statutory definitions of cigar and cigarette are, therefore, mutually exclusive of one 
another.  Later, as discussed above, FDA defined “cigar” in the Final Deeming Rule 
(incorporated into 21 C.F.R. §1143.1), which also maintains a regulatory definition that is 
mutually exclusive of the term “cigarette.” 

The rationale behind the statutory differences between “cigarette” and “cigar” or “little 
cigar” stem from a long list of differences between the characteristics of the two products 
as well as demographic and user patterns.  This classification is also based on statutory 
construction, rulemaking, judicial precedent, research by government experts, and by 
consumer practices and behavior. 

First, cigars contain filler composed largely of harsher air-cured, low-sugar tobacco 
blends including burley tobacco, whereas cigarettes contain filler composed of sweeter 
flue-cured blends including Oriental tobaccos.  In fact, ATF Ruling 73-22 explicitly 
stated that “[t]he inclusion of flue-cured or aromatic (Oriental) tobaccos—which 
traditionally have been the primary constituents of cigarette filler—can contribute 
significantly to making a product cigarette-like.” 

Second, cigars use wrappers that are made from natural brown leaf tobacco or 
reconstituted tobacco (consisting of at least 2/3 leaf tobacco by weight), as required by 
TTB). Cigarettes are wrapped in white paper which is required currently to consist of 
ventilated fire-safe paper with designated extinguishing qualities (e.g., starch bands or 
gaps). This is another important distinction in preserving the tobacco character (e.g., 
taste, aroma, identifiable chemical components).     

Third, the product labeling of cigars differs from cigarettes.  These smaller sized cigars 
are conspicuously and unmistakably labeled as “LITTLE CIGARS,” “SMALL CIGARS” 
or “CIGARS,” as required by TTB.6  A conspicuous “cigar” declaration must appear on 
the front, back and bottom panels of such products.7  The terms, “CIGARS,” “SMALL 
CIGARS” and “LITTLE CIGARS” are specifically required to appear in direct 

                                                 
6  See 27 CFR §40.214.   
7  See ATF Ruling 73-22.  
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conjunction with, parallel to, and in substantially the same conspicuousness of type and 
background as, the brand name each time the brand name appears, which is true for all 
small-sized cigars, including those sold in packs of 20.8 

Cheyenne Wild Cherry 100s Cigars unmistakably meet these very basic, but very 
important, requirements for appropriate classification as cigars.  In fact, Cheyenne took 
the extra step of presenting these products to TTB for review and testing.  TTB certified 
these products as cigars and not cigarettes in writing, including specifically Wild Cherry 
100’s (see TTB Certification as Exhibit 1). In summary, first, Cheyenne Wild Cherry 
100’s Cigars contain filler composed largely of harsher air-cured, low-sugar tobacco 
blends.  Second, the cigar wrappers are dark brown because they are composed of 
reconstituted tobacco (consisting of at least 2/3 leaf tobacco by weight) – and not white 
fire-safe low ignition propensity paper.  Third, in the product labeling (attached as 
Exhibit 2), numerous conspicuous “cigar” declarations appear prominently at the very top 
with the same conspicuousness of type as the brand name on the front, back and bottom 
panels of the label. 

Smaller sized cigars, as defined by the law and subject to periodic review and 
examination by TTB, have been marketed since the early 1970s in their filtered form. 
Cheyenne has marketed and sold these products since it opened its business in 2004.  It 
has never made or sold flavored cigarettes. As of 2007, Cheyenne marketed three types of 
Wild Cherry filtered cigars  Contrary to well-intentioned, but legally incorrect and 
unsubstantiated, statements made by the public health community, the marketing and sale 
of these cigars is not a recent development that arose as a method to circumvent TCA 
cigarette flavor bans.  It did not arise out of the more stringent regulation of cigarettes.  
The presence of flavored cigars in the marketplace is supported by a century of legislative 
history dating first to the Revenue Act of 1909 and continuing through the 1954 Internal 
Revenue Code, the Excise Reduction Act of 1965 and the 1973 Little Cigar Act.  Filtered 
and flavored small cigars have held a lawful place on the U.S. market throughout this 
history.  They have, likewise, maintained a consumer base, albeit a small consumer base 
with gross sales amounting to approximately 1-2% in comparison to total cigarette sales 
throughout this time (see for example, TTB 2015 Statistical Report, Exhibit 3).  

2. Cheyenne Wild Cherry 100’s Cigars are not likely to be offered to, or purchased 
by, consumers as cigarettes. 

The definition of “cigarette” contained in §900(3)(B) provides FDA with the authority to 
treat a cigar product as a cigarette, and thereby ban characterizing flavors, if “it is likely 
to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as a cigarette or as roll-your-own tobacco” 
based on its appearance, filler, or packaging and labeling.  Any smoker will attest that 
there is really no way to confuse a product containing harsher air-cured burley tobacco 
surrounded by a unventilated brown tobacco wrapper with a sweeter flue-cured Oriental 
tobacco cigarette surrounded by a white low ignition propensity paper wrapper.  This is 
                                                 
8  See id.  



Cheyenne Warning Letter Response 
December 30, 2016 
Page 12 

especially true for Cheyenne Wild Cherry 100’s Cigars.  Cigars, even if filtered and 
included in packs of 20, like the subject of this Warning Letter, burn differently, taste 
different, contain a different harder draw, have a different feel of the smoke in the throat, 
and are not ventilated.  They are harsher tasting, even with flavoring, have a heavier more 
robust smell, and burn longer and hotter based on no ventilation in the tobacco wrapper 
or tipping paper. 

We understand that in 2012, FDA issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) and contracted a 
polling firm to document, in part, whether consumers purchased filtered cigars believing 
them to be cigarettes.9  According to this RFP, the primary objective of this contract was 
to “conduct a study to assess if flavored little cigars, because of their appearance or type 
of tobacco used in the filler, are likely to be depicted as and consumed by tobacco users 
as a cigarette.”  The results of that survey (e.g., research papers, if completed), to our 
knowledge, have never been made public, or at least not published or disseminated 
publicly by FDA. 

In fact, we were able to examine the results of this study, provided as part of a May 2016 
presentation, available at researchgate.net10. The statistical comparisons posted in 
PowerPoint by Battelle, awarded the contract by FDA, actually showed the contrary. 
Again, although unpublished, these results suggest that dual-user subjects had very 
different perceptions of the cigars versus their own-brand of cigarettes, which undermines 
any assertion that users where unaware of which was a cigarette and which was a filtered 
cigar, or that these products are substitutable. The results regarding subjective effects 
(e.g., “liking” a product) clearly demonstrated a significant difference and preference to 
cigarettes (6.0 percent of respondents) as opposed to cigars (3.0 of respondents).  Such 
results are consistent with sales trends that demonstrate that cigarette sales outpace sales 
of small cigars by approximately 300 to one, and that U.S. sales of cigar products are 
declining (TTB 2015 Statistical Report, Exhibit 3).  

Cheyenne’s own internal sales data, as well as sales data of filtered cigars across the 
industry, supports the conclusion that no consumer confusion exists.  Based on 2015 sales 
data, for example, in 2015, nearly 300 times more cigarettes were sold than the sale of 
small types of cigars (approximately 300 billion cigarettes compared to 1 billion small 
cigars and 6 billion large cigars).  See http://www.ttb.gov/statistics/13tobstats.shtml, or 
Exhibit 3.   If a filtered cigar was “likely to be offered to, or purchased by, consumers as 

                                                 
9 See “Experiment Study on the Subjective, Physiological and Puff Topography Measures of Little Cigars” 
(Solication Number:  SSNDecember112011), available at 
https://www.fbo.gov/index?s=opportunity&mode=form&tab=core&id=7aa8f1a270911a2609f6300eb88958
33&_cview=1, which was subsequently awarded to Battelle Memorial Institute on September 21, 2012.  
10 See “Laboratory Smoking of Flavored and Unflavored Little Cigars and Cigarettes, Use Behavior, 
Toxicant Exposure, Subjective Effects and Risk Perceptions, available at 
https://www.researchgate net/publication/303382674_Laboratory_Smoking_of_Flavored_and_Unflavored_
Little_Cigars_and_Cigarettes_Use_Behavior_Toxicant_Exposure_Subjective_Effects_and_Risk_Perceptio
ns (attached as Exhibit 4). 
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a cigarette” because of its appearance, filler, or packaging and labeling, why were 300 
times more cigarettes sold than small cigars in the U.S. in 2015 alone?  This is especially 
perplexing because heavier filtered cigars are taxed significantly less and are, therefore, 
cheaper per pack depending on the state (e.g., $2 v. $6-$10 per pack).  Filtered cigars can 
also be flavored while cigarettes are limited to tobacco and menthol flavors.  The answer 
is obvious to smokers and industry experts, and has been verified by the unpublished 
research FDA commissioned. Cigars are not substitutable for cigarettes and consumers 
can clearly tell the difference between the two products. They have different tastes, 
ingredients, design, smoking characteristics and consumer demographics, such that they 
cannot be commonly mistaken by consumers for cigarettes.  That is why TTB taxes 
Cheyenne’s Wild Cherry 100’s as cigars, and why they are treated as cigars by FTC 
under the FCLAA. 

In addition to the differences in physical characteristics and labeling between cigars and 
cigarettes, there exist other notable differences with respect to the use of these products.  
Whereas cigarettes may be very addictive, are commonly inhaled and are chain-smoked 
by the pack, filtered cigars may be less addictive, are generally not inhaled, and are 
smoked in significantly lower numbers.11   

C. Conclusion  

In light of the above longstanding differences between cigarettes and cigars with respect 
to federal statutory definitions, product characteristics and usage, FDA mischaracterizes 
Cheyenne’s Wild Cherry 100’s Cigars as cigarettes.  Identical definitions of cigarettes 
were adopted by Congress in tobacco-related legislation enacted prior to the TCA. The 
TCA used these familiar definitions to retain consistency between the definitions 
currently administered by TTB, USDA and FTC under various statutes and regulations.  
Cheyenne, therefore, rejects any allegation that its filtered flavored cigar products are 
adulterated and misbranded under §§902(5) and 903(a)(1), or constitute a flavored 
cigarette in violation under §907(a)(1) of the FDCA. 
 
The Final Deeming Rule did not permit cigars to be re-classified as cigarettes under the 
FDCA (without establishing formal product standards using notice and comment 
rulemaking).  FDA cannot, through selective enforcement or interpretation, seek action 
not authorized by statute or regulation.  Although the Final Deeming Rule permits FDA 
to make determinations on a case-by-case basis, FDA provided no underlying factual 
support or released no evidence to prove that Cheyenne Wild Cherry 100’s Cigars meet 
the definition of a cigarette, as interpreted previously and consistently by FDA, TTB, 
USDA and FTC, other than to repeat the language of the definition. 
 

                                                 
11  National Cancer Institute-Monograph 9- Cigars: Health Effects and Trends, pg. 40.  See 
http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/BRP/tcrb/monographs/9/index.html. 
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As the Agency is aware, and as Cheyenne demonstrated in this response, there exist long-
recognized and unambiguous definitions of “cigar” and “little cigar.” These definitions 
have evolved from the IRC, FCLAA, in the regulations and Revenue Rulings of TTB, 
and most recently in the FDCA.  Throughout enactment and implementation of these, and 
other statutory, regulatory and interpretative provisions, the distinction between cigars 
and cigarettes has been consistent, well-established and well-vetted by lawmakers, 
regulators, consumer groups and industry alike.  It is important that these definitions (for 
cigarettes, cigars, and little cigars) be respected uniformly, and consistently applied 
across the Federal Government by agencies authorized to administer the various laws that 
oversee this product regulation. 
 
If FDA seeks to discuss this matter further, please contact our regulatory counsel, Marc 
Scheineson, at (202) 239-3465 (marc.scheineson@alston.com).  If you disagree with the 
analysis prepared above, please explain why and permit us to meet to discuss this matter 
directly.  Please also provide us with any valid scientific studies, or other information, 
that support FDA’s position and the enforcement action you have taken. 









































































From: Ibarra-Pratt, Ele
To: Villa, Anthony; Kabaria, Swati
Subject: FW: Cheyenne Warning Letter
Date: Tuesday, May 23, 2017 3:47:22 PM
Attachments: Cheyenne- FOIA Request 1 (3).DOCX

 
 

From: Scheineson, Marc [mailto:Marc.Scheineson@alston.com] 
Sent: Tuesday, May 23, 2017 3:46 PM
To: Mednick, David; Simoneau, Ann; Ibarra-Pratt, Ele
Cc: David Scott; Ralph Brown; Carroll, Brendan
Subject: Cheyenne Warning Letter
 
Per our recent meeting, and at your suggestion, attached is a copy of the FOIA request for
the CTP-OS Customer Confusion study you described.  A hard copy has been sent to the
FOIA Office and the Document Center.  We hope you will work cooperatively with the CTP
FOIA office to make this study available quickly so we can proceed in the resolution of this
matter.  Happy to discuss further.  Best, Marc.
 
Marc J. Scheineson, Esq.
Alston & Bird LLP
950 F Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20004-1404
(202) 239-3465 (Office)
(202) 344-5848 (Mobile)
(202) 654-4965 (FAX)
marc.scheineson@alston.com
 

 

NOTICE: This e-mail message and all attachments may contain legally privileged and
confidential information intended solely for the use of the addressee. If you are not the
intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you may not read, copy, distribute or
otherwise use this message or its attachments. If you have received this message in error,
please notify the sender by email and delete all copies of the message immediately.














